UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS
SAN ANTONIO DIVISION

AQUIFER GUARDIANS IN URBAN )
AREAS, and PEOPLE FOR )
EFFICIENT TRANSPORTATION, INC.)
) No.
Plaintiffs, )
) Complaint For Declaratory And
V. ) Injunctive Relief
)
US FEDERAL HIGHWAY )
ADMINISTRATION, and MICHAEL W.)
BEHRENS, Executive Director, Texas )
Department of Transportation, )
)
Defendants. )
)
INTRODUCTION
1. In this action, Plaintiffs, Aquifer Guardians in Urban Areas, and People For

Efficient Transportation, Inc. (collectively “AGUA”), challenge the failure of the
Federal Highway Administration (“FHWA”) and the Texas Department of
Transportation (“TxDOT”) to comply with the requirements of the National
Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”) for the proposed expansions of United
States Highway 281 (“US 281”) and Loop 1604. US 281 bisects the Edwards
Aquifer recharge zone from north to south as it extends north of Loop 1604.

Loop 1604 in this vicinity runs east to west through the recharge zone. These

projects are “being proposed as . . . part of the ‘starter toll system’ for Bexar
County.”
2. The highway expansions will contribute to the ongoing degradation of the

Edwards Aquifer, the region’s primary water supply, as well as subject nearby



residents to noise pollution above federal standards, exacerbate harmful air
pollution levels that already exceed federal standards for ground level ozone,
diminish community cohesion, increase the cost of travel, increase congestion and
travel times during the construction phase, increase the cost of commuting and
through urbanization contribute to the ongoing fragmentation of wildlife habitat,
including for endangered species such as the golden cheek warbler.

As recently described in a San Antonio Express News article entitled “Law Lets
Developers Ignore Growth Controls,” local communities are being overwhelmed
by uncontrollable and unplanned residential growth, which is largely out of local
governmental control because of grand-fathering legislation. As the San Antonio
Express News recently editorialized, the “Aquifer faces peril as a city grows
wrong way.” The proposed toll roads will greatly accelerate these harmful trends
and the highway agencies are moving forward without taking any meaningful
look at the implications of their actions. Neither the original environmental
assessment prepared in 1984 nor two subsequent “reevaluations” prepared in 2000
and 2004 provide adequate documentation, individually or collectively, of the
environmental impacts of the proposed action. Most egregiously, and patently
illegal under NEPA, the agencies have utterly failed to ever consider any
alternatives to the proposed massive toll road projects.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims for relief in this action
pursuant to 5 U.S.C. §§ 701 et seq. (actions under the APA); 28 U.S.C. § 1331

(actions arising under the laws of the United States); 28 U.S.C. § 1361 (actions to



compel an officer of the United States to perform a duty); and 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201-
02 (power to issue declaratory judgments in cases of actual controversy).
Venue lies properly in this judicial district by virtue of 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)
because this is a civil action in which officers or employees of the United States
or an agency thereof are acting in their official capacity or under color of legal
authority, a substantial part of the events or omissions giving rise to the claim
occurred in this judicial district, and plaintiff AGUA resides here.

PARTIES
Plaintiff, Aquifer Guardian in Urban Areas, is a non-profit organization with
approximately 400 members, whose mission is to strengthen the regulations
designed to protect the aquifer, ensure enforcement of existing laws, alert the
public to impending threats, and mobilize public opinion to support efforts to
protect the Edwards Aquifer.
Aquifer Guardians in Urban Areas brings this action of behalf of its members,
including many who live in the area and will be adversely affected by water
quality degradation, wildlife habitat loss, traffic and construction noise, additional
traffic, aesthetic impairment, air pollution, costs of tolls and urbanization of the
area.
Aquifer Guardians in Urban Areas also brings this action on behalf of itself, since
it suffers informational and procedural injuries from the failure of the Defendants
to comply with NEPA.
Plaintiff, People For Efficient Transportation, Inc., is a non-profit organization

with over 5000 members, formed to increase public awareness and understanding
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of the dramatic negative effects Freeway Tolls and the Trans Texas Corridor will
have on Texans. People for Efficient Transportation, Inc. seeks to provide
resources to assist the public as well as local governments in identifying and
addressing the negative economic, social, political and ecological impacts of toll
highways.

People For Efficient Transportation, Inc. brings this action of behalf of its
members, including many who live in the area and will be adversely affected by
water quality degradation, wildlife habitat loss, aesthetic impairment, construction
noise, additional traffic, air pollution, costs of tolls, and urbanization of the area.
People For Efficient Transportation, Inc. also brings this action on behalf of itself,
since it suffers informational and procedural injuries from the failure of the
Defendants to comply with NEPA.

Defendant FHWA is an agency of the federal government within the Department
of Transportation that is providing funding or other federal assistance for the
expansion of U.S. 281 and Loop 1604 and repeatedly approved this project,
including as recently as November 2005.

Defendant Michael W. Behrens is sued in his official capacity as executive
director of TxDOT in order to enjoin construction on this project.

BACKGROUND

Relevant Statutes and Regulations

National Environmental Policy Act

"NEPA . .. makes environmental protection a part of the mandate of every federal

agency and department," Calvert Cliffs' Coordinating Committee v. United States
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Atomic Energy Commission, 449 F.2d 1109, 1112 (D.C.Cir. 1971). Perhaps the

greatest importance of NEPA is to require...agencies to consider environmental
issues just as they consider other matters within their mandates.” Id. (Emphasis
in the original.) NEPA’s essential purpose is "to help public officials make
decisions that are based on understanding of environmental consequences, and
take actions that protect, restore, and enhance the environment." 40 C.F.R. §
1500.1 (c). The Council on Environmental Quality ("CEQ") — an agency within
the Executive Office of the President — has promulgated regulations implementing
NEPA. See 40 C.F.R. §§ 1500-1508.

To accomplish its purpose, NEPA requires that all agencies of the federal
government must prepare a "detailed statement" regarding all "major Federal
actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment . . ..” 42
U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C). This statement, known as an Environmental Impact
Statement ("EIS"), must describe (1) the "environmental impact of the proposed
action," (2) any "adverse environmental effects which cannot be avoided should
the proposal be implemented," (3) any "alternatives to the proposed action," and
(4) any "irreversible or irretrievable commitment of resources which would be
involved in the proposed action should it be implemented." 1d.

"Major Federal actions" requiring preparation of an EIS include "projects and
programs entirely or partly financed, assisted, conducted, regulated, or approved
by federal agencies . . .." 40 C.F.R. § 1508.18(a).

Whether an agency action "significantly" affects the environment takes into

account both the context and intensity of a proposed action. 40 C.F.R. § 1508.27.
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The intensity of an action's impacts implicates numerous factors, including: "[t]he
degree to which the proposed action affects public health or safety”; “[u]nique
characteristics of the geographic area such as proximity to . . . park lands . . . wild
and scenic rivers, or ecologically critical areas”; “[t]he degree to which the effects
on the quality of the human environment are likely to be highly controversial”;
“[t]he degree to which the possible effects on the human environment are highly
uncertain or involve unique or unknown risks”; “[t]he degree to which the action
may establish a precedent for future actions with significant effects or represents a
decision in principle about a future consideration”; “[w]hether the action is related
to other actions with individually insignificant but cumulatively significant
impacts”; “[t]he degree to which the action may adversely affect an endangered or
threatened species or its habitat"; and “[w]hether the action threatens a violation
of Federal, State, or local law or requirements imposed for the protection of the
environment.” Id. § 1508.27(b)(2)-(10).

CEQ regulations provide for the preparation of a document known as an
environmental assessment ("EA") so that agencies may determine whether a
particular action may have a significant impact on the quality of the human
environment and thus require preparation of an EIS. 40 C.F.R. § 1501.4(b),(c).
An EA also serves the additional purpose of “aid[ing] an agency’s compliance
with the Act when no [EIS] is necessary.” Id. § 1508.9(a)(2). For example, CEQ

regulations specify that every EA, as well as every EIS, must include a discussion

of "alternatives as required by section 102(2)(E)" of NEPA. Id. § 1508.9(b).
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Section 102(2)(E) of NEPA requires that every agency must also "study, develop,
and describe alternatives to recommended courses of action . . .." 42 U.S.C. §
4332(2)(E).

Regulations promulgated by the CEQ to implement NEPA describe the
consideration of alternatives as “the heart of the environmental impact statement.”
40 C.F.R. § 1502.14.

The purpose of the requirement to consider alternatives is “to insist that no major
federal project should be undertaken without intense consideration of other more
ecologically sound courses of action, including shelving the entire project, or of
accomplishing the same result by entirely different means.” Environmental

Defense Fund v. Corps of Engineers, 492 F.2d 1123, 1135 (5th Cir. 1974).

“No decision is more important that delimiting what these ‘reasonable
alternatives’ are [since] [o]ne obvious way for an agency to slip past the strictures
of NEPA is to contrive a purpose so slender as to define competing ‘reasonable
alternatives’ out of consideration (and even out of existence).” Simmons V.

United States Army Corps of Engineers, 120 F.3d 664, 666 (7th Cir. 1997).

NEPA also requires the consideration of the cumulative impacts of actions. CEQ
regulations define “cumulative impact” at 40 C.F.R. 1508.7: “Cumulative impact
is the impact on the environment which results from the incremental impact of the
action when added to other past, present, and reasonably foreseeable future
actions regardless of what agency (Federal or non-Federal) or persona undertakes
such other actions. Cumulative impacts can result from individually minor but

collectively significant actions taking place over a period of time.”
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CEQ has emphasized the importance of considering cumulative impacts. In its
1997 report entitled “Considering Cumulative Effects Under the National
Environmental Policy Act,” CEQ notes that “[e]vidence is increasing that the
most devastating environmental effects may result not from the direct effects of a
particular action, but from the combination of individually minor effects of
multiple actions over time.” CEQ Report at 1.

CEQ has determined that unintended consequences on the human environment
continue to occur from federal agency decision-making and that “is largely
attributable to this incremental (cumulative) impact.” Id.

According to CEQ:

The passage of time has only increased the conviction that cumulative
effects analysis is essential to effectively managing the consequences of
human activities on the environment. The purpose of cumulative effects
analysis, therefore, is to ensure that federal decisions consider the full
range of consequences of actions. Without incorporating cumulative
effects into environmental planning and management, it will be impossible
to move towards sustainable development, i.e., development that meets the
needs of the present without compromising the ability of future
generations to meet their own needs (World Commission on Environment
and Development 1987; President’s Council on Sustainable Development
1996). To a large extent, the goal of cumulative effects analysis, like that
of NEPA itself, is to inject environmental considerations into the planning
process as early as needed to improve decisions. If cumulative effects
become apparent as agency programs are being planned or as larger
strategies and policies are developed then potential cumulative effects
should be analyzed at that time.”

CEQ Report at 3; see also 40 C.F.R. § 230.7.
In addition to highlighting the need for cumulative impacts analysis, the CEQ
report provides a primer on the methods, techniques and tools for analyzing

cumulative effects. Id. at 49, et seq.
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CEQ regulations also require that agencies “[s]hall prepare supplements to either
draft or final environmental impact statements if: (i) The agency makes
substantial changes in the proposed action that are relevant to environmental
concerns; or (ii) There are significant new circumstances or information relevant
to environmental concerns and bearing on the proposed action or its impacts.” 40
C.F.R. § 1502.9(c).

FHWA regulations direct that an EIS shall be supplemented whenever the FHWA
determines that "[c]hanges to the proposed action would result in significant
environmental impacts that were not evaluated in the EIS," 23 C.F.R. §
771.130(a)(1), or “[n]Jew information or circumstances relevant to environmental
concerns and bearings on the proposed action or its impacts would result in
significant environmental impacts not evaluated in the EIS.” Id. at §
771.130(a)(2). “After approval of the EIS, [or] FONSI..., the applicant shall
consult with the Administration prior to requesting any major approvals or grants
to establish whether or not the approved environmental document ... remains valid
for the requested Administration action.” 23 C.F.R. § 771.129(c).

FHWA regulations also provides that "[w]here the Administration is uncertain of
the significance of the new impacts, the applicant will develop appropriate
environmental studies, or, if the Administration deems appropriate, an EA to
assess the impacts of the changes, new information, or new circumstances." Id. §
771.130(c). “If, based upon the studies, the Administration determines that a
supplemental EIS is not necessary, the Administration shall so indicate in the

project file.” Id.
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Facts

A. Proposed Expansion of U.S. 281 and Loop 1604 In The
Environmentally Sensitive Recharge Zone Of The Edwards Aquifer.

The initial environmental documentation for expansion of U.S. 281 consisted of
an environmental assessment and a finding of no significant impact issued on
August 8, 1984 (1984 EA).

The 1984 EA covered the expansion of a 4.9 mile stretch of U.S. 281 “from 0.8
miles north of Bitters Road to 2.5 miles north of Loop 1604 into a “six lane
divided freeway with access roads and grade separations.” 1984 EA at 2.

The 1984 EA identifies the “Purpose And Need For The Proposed Project” as
resulting from “[s]evere congestion [that] has been caused by traffic back-ups at

signalized intersections which provide movement across this expressway.” 1984

EA at 4 (emphasis added).

The initial heading in the 1984 EA is entitled “I. Description of Project and
Reasonable Alternatives,” however there is no mention of any other alternatives
that were identified, considered or analyzed. 1984 EA at 2-4.

The 1984 EA contains slightly over two pages of “Discussion of the Potential
Social, Economic and Environmental Effects” and summarily dismisses any
environmental and socioeconomic concerns. 1984 EA at 4-6. The 1984 EA
concludes that the project: “will have no significant impact on the traditional trend
of northward development,” id. at 4, “will not involve any park, recreation,
wildlife or historic preservation lands, nor any flowing streams or lakes falling
under any federal, state or local statute, id. at 5; “will [cause it to] be easier, safer

and less expensive to travel [and] cause no disruption of existing community

10
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cohesiveness, id.; “has no inconsistencies involving federal, state, or local laws
relating to the environment” involving air, noise and water pollution, id.; and
“will create no negative impacts on any elements in the aquatic area,” id. at 6.

The 1984 EA does not contain any section entitled secondary and cumulative
impacts nor any discussion or analysis of potential indirect and cumulative
impacts. The 1984 EA fails to identify any other past, present or reasonably
foreseeable highway projects — or other types of development — in the area that
might result in cumulative impacts along with the proposed project on
environmental resources in the area, such as the Edwards Aquifer and endangered
species.

The 1984 EA fails to describe in any detail the environmental baseline for the
natural resources in the area. For example, there is no discussion of the then
existing water quality conditions in the Edwards Aquifer, including whether any
pollutants potentially caused by highway infrastructure have been detected in the
aquifer.

On August 8, 1984, the Assistant Division Administrator for the FHWA signed a
determination “that this project will not have any significant impact on the human
environment.” The finding of no significant impact (“FONSI”’) was based solely
on the FHWA’s review of the 1984 EA submitted by the Texas State Department
of Highways and Public Transportation. According to FHWA’s FONSI, the 1984
EA “provide[d] sufficient evidence and analysis for determining that an

environmental impact statement is not required.”

11
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B. The Inadequate 2000 and 2004 Environmental Assessment
Reevaluations

1. 2000 Reevaluation
An environmental assessment reevaluation was issued in March 2000 (“2000
Reevaluation™).
The 2000 Reevaluation states that the “overall design has remained the same as
described in the original EA.” 2000 Reevaluation at 1.
The 2000 Reevaluation states that the only change in the project area is that “there
has been extensive commercial/retail development at the intersection of US 281
and Loop 1604 and several commercial developments on the east side and a new
residential subdivision constructed on the west side of US 281 at Evans Road.”
Id. at 1.
The 2000 Reevaluation concludes that there “should not be any negative
economic impacts,” id., there “will not be any significant degradation of existing
environmental considerations due to this proposed work and it is not expected to
cause any contamination to or effect upon any public water supply,” id. at 2, “the
project will not have a substantial impact on air quality,” id. at 5, no “noise
abatement measures are both feasible and reasonable,” id. at 9, and “no adverse
impacts to the Golden-cheeked Warbler and the Black-capped Vireo are
expected,” id. at 11.
The 2000 Reevaluation concludes “that there have not been any significant
changes to the assessed area [and c]oncurrence that this project remains a FONSI

is anticipated.” Id. at 14.

12
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The 2000 Reevaluation does not contain any description of the environmental
baseline. Under the “Water Quality” section, the 2000 Reevaluation states that
“[t]here will not be any significant degradation of existing environmental
considerations due to the proposed work and it is not expected to cause any
contamination to or effect upon any public water supply.” 2000 Reevaluation at
2. Nowhere in the 2000 Reevaluation is there any description of what the
“existing environmental [conditions]” are in relation to water quality of the
Edwards Aquifer. The 2000 Reevaluation does not contain any discussion of
whether or not any pollution of the Edwards Aquifer has occurred or whether any
pollutants potentially related to transportation infrastructure have been found in
the Edwards Aquifer.

As with the 1984 EA, the 2000 Reevaluation does not contain any discussion of
alternatives to the proposed action.

As with the 1984 EA, the 2000 Reevaluation does not contain any discussion of
indirect and cumulative impacts. Also, the 2000 Reevaluation fails to identify any
other past, present or reasonably foreseeable highway projects — or other types of
development — in the area that might result in cumulative impacts along with the
proposed project on environmental resources in the area, such as the Edwards
Aquifer and endangered species.

The 2000 Reevaluation does acknowledge that post-project noise levels will
increase and that the projected noise levels will exceed FHWA established Noise
Abatement Criteria. 2000 Reevaluation at 8, Table III. The 2000 Reevaluation

concludes that Noise Abatement measures are not feasible and “therefore, no

13
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noise abatement measures are proposed for this project.” The 2000 Reevaluation
fails to consider whether noise levels that exceed federal Noise Abatement
Criteria for adjacent residential and business development are “significant”
impacts requiring the preparation of an environmental impact statement, since
there are not feasible mitigation measures.

The 2000 Reevaluation dismisses traffic management devices that could moderate
the speed of traffic and thereby reduce noise (as well as smooth the overall flow
of traffic during times of congestion) because they might “increase congestion
and air pollution.” 2000 Reevaluation at 9. However, there is no quantification
of to what extent traffic management devices would increase congestion or air
pollution. Elsewhere, the 2000 Reevaluation states that carbon monoxide (“CO”)
concentrations are below National Ambient Air Quality Standards (“NAAQS”)
“and therefore, the project will not have a substantial impact on air quality.” Id. at
5. So even though noise pollution will exceed federal standards and air pollution
(at least for the only pollutant, CO, analyzed in the 2000 Reevaluation) does not
exceed federal standards, TxDOT dismisses reductions in noise levels without any
quantification of the air pollution trade-off or whether the increased air pollution
would result in the exceedance of air pollution standards.

The 2000 Reevaluation fails to discuss any air pollutants besides CO, such as
ground level ozone. TxDOT notes that “[t]his project is located in Bexar County,
which is currently classified as being in attainment status of the NAAQS and
therefore, conformity [with Clean Air Act state implementation plan] does not

apply” Id. at 4-5

14
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The 2000 Reevaluation and FONSI were approved by FHWA on December 11,
2000.

2. 2004 Reevaluation
A second environmental assessment reevaluation was issued in December 2004
(“2004 Reevaluation™).
The 2004 Reevaluation covers expansion of U.S. 281 “from Sonterra Blvd. (0.4
miles north of Loopl1604) to 2.5 miles north of Loop 1604” and a “grade
separation of U.S. 281 over Stone Oak Parkway.” 2004 Reevaluation at 1.
TxDOT describes these projects as “being proposed as a toll facility as part of the
‘starter toll system’ for Bexar County.” Id. “Other projects in the ‘starter toll
system’ include the expansion of Loop 1604 from IH 10 to IH 35 (north), the
inclusion of direct connectors at the IH 10/Loop 1604 interchange and the
inclusion of a fully-directional interchange at Loop 1604/US281.” Id.
The 2004 Reevaluation describes the project as a “divided facility [that] would
consist of six mainlanes with the addition of three lane frontage roads.” 2004
Reevaluation at 2. According to TxDOT, “the design concept and scope has
remained the same as described in the original environmental documents, except
that the US 281 mainlanes are now proposed to be tolled.” Id. However, the
2004 Reevaluation diagram depicts an additional southbound auxiliary lane and
two additional northbound auxiliary lanes more than what was considered in the
1984 EA. Compare 2004 Reevaluation (Figure 2B) with 1984 EA (Figure 2).
The 2004 Reevaluation reiterates the 1984 EA’s statement of Purpose and Need

focusing on the “signalized intersections” that “result[] in tremendous congestion,

15
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particularly during peak periods, thus reducing the overall operational efficiency
of the corridor.” 2004 Reevaluation at 4.

As with the 1984 EA and the 2000 Reevaluation, the 2004 Reevaluation does not
have an Alternatives section, nor are any alternatives described, considered or
analyzed.

Rather than prepare a new, complete environmental assessment or environmental
impact statement for this project, the original environmental assessment for which
was prepared twenty years earlier, TXDOT prepared a “reevaluation” that purports
to provide “[u]pdated and other pertinent information relative to the
environmental documentation ....” 2004 Reevaluation at 5.

The 2004 Reevaluation has a greatly expanded discussion of socio-economic
factors, such as demographics, age distribution, incomes levels, and
environmental justice factors. Id. at 5-17. One socio-economic related
conclusion reached by TxDOT is that “[t]he proposed project would not adversely
affect community cohesion [because] US 281 is currently the major highway
running north and south through San Antonio [and] serves as a boundary
separating neighborhoods and communities.” Id. at 10. Since there is no
discussion of alternatives however, there is, of course, no analysis of whether
alternative context sensitive designs could increase community cohesion.

In the discussion of economic impacts, TxDOT asserts that the project will result
in “reduced vehicle operating costs,” as well as improve the “poor” “level of . . .
psychological comfort afforded the driver.” 2004 Reevaluation at 14. However,

there is no discussion of the amount of the tolls drivers would be forced to pay

16
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and, more importantly, whether those tolls would offset or surpass the promised
“reduced vehicle operating costs,” as well as the impact of the tolls on the
“psychological comfort” of the driver. Id. Additionally, while the 2004
Reevaluation acknowledges the adverse economic impacts of highway
construction on business along that route, there is no indication that the
potentially increased economic impacts of tolling of the highway on those
businesses was considered in that analysis.

TxDOT also concludes that the proposal for a 12-lane toll highway will not affect
mass transit usage. 2004 Reevaluation at 16. The 2004 Reevaluation states that
“[ploor street connectivity and low density development [in the area] result in
longer, indirect distances to be covered by pedestrians and bus routes, making
transit use less viable for potential riders and transit services more expensive to
provide.” Id. at 16. The 2004 Reevaluation fails to note that VIA Metropolitan
Transit proposed a light rail line in the U.S. 281 corridor in 2000 and the 2004
Reevaluation fails to consider any alternatives that incorporate features to
facilitate mass transit, such as park and ride facilities, express bus lanes, high
occupancy vehicle lanes, and other proven techniques.

While the 2000 Reevaluation emphasized that Bexar County was in attainment
with all air quality standards at that time, the 2004 Reevaluation acknowledges
that the “San Antonio area (3 counties: Bexar, Comal and Guadalupe) has
recently been classified as non-attainment under the federal 8-hour ozone national
ambient air quality standards . . ..” 2004 Reevaluation at 17. Yet, the 2004

Reevaluation again fails to describe or analysis the air quality impacts of current
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and projected traffic on U.S. 281 and other local roads on local residents, relying
on an exemption from the substantive conformity requirements of the Clean Air
Act resulting from the San Antonio area’s participation in a program known as the
Early Action Compact. The 2004 Reevaluation fails to describe any of the well-
documented health effects of highways and fails to model existing and projected
ozone concentrations along the study area.
The 2004 Reevaluation reiterates that “previous traffic noise analysis concluded
that no noise abatement measures would be feasible and reasonable for any of the
impacted receivers . . . and therefore, the previous noises [sic] analysis remains
valid.” 2004 Reevaluation at 18. As with the 2000 Reevaluation, the 2004
Reevaluation fails to analyze whether the non-mitigable noise impacts are
significant. Id.
The entire discussion of the ecological and utilitarian significance of the Edwards
Aquifer and potential impacts to the Aquifer in the 2004 Reevaluation consists of
the following paragraph:
The project is located over the Edwards Aquifer Recharge Zone
and therefore, a Water Pollution Abatement Plan is currently being
prepared in accordance with 30 Texas Administrative Code (TAC)
Chapter 213, Edwards Aquifer Rules and would be submitted to
the TCEQ for approval. Since the project is federally funded,
coordination with the Environmental Protection Agency’s Sole
Source Aquifer Program would be required.
2004 Reevaluation at 18.
The 2004 Reevaluation contains a greatly expanded discussion of wetlands,

surface water features, and vegetation in the project area that emphasizes by

comparison the serious flaws in the remainder of the document.

1R



64.

65.

66.

The 2004 Reevaluation concludes that there will be no effect on any endangered
species because such “occurrences are all 1.5 miles or more from the project area
....7 2004 Reevaluation at 32. The 2004 Reevaluation fails to consider whether
there will be any secondary or cumulative impacts on endangered species outside
the project area despite recognizing elsewhere that “[g]rowth and development are
the principal secondary impacts related to highway improvement projects.”
Compare Id. at 32 with id. at 36. In the secondary and cumulative impacts
section, the 2004 Reevaluation states “[s]econdary development associated with
the proposed project may result in impacts to biological communities and natural
habitats that, in turn, may have cumulative effects that result in habitat
fragmentation and disruption of wildlife populations.” Id. at 36. However,
nowhere in the 2004 Reevaluation is that analysis ever extended to the
consideration of the significance of impacts to endangered species, such as the
golden-cheek warbler whose habitat is being lost at a substantial rate in the area
due to massive residential developments.
FHWA issued a finding of no significant impact for the project in November
2005.
C. The Location of the Project in the Region North and Northwest at the
Confluence of the Most Environmentally Sensitive and One of the
Most Rapidly Developing Area in Bexar County
There is nowhere in Bexar County where the effects of massive and rapid
urbanization are being felt more acutely and on a more sensitive and important

environment.
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1. Ecological Significance and Vulnerability of Edwards Aquifer
The expansions of U.S. 281 and Loop 1604 crisscross the recharge zone of the
Edwards Aquifer. The Edwards is a federally designated sole source drinking
water aquifer that provides water to 1.5 million people and the spring flows of
which are vital to the survival of endangered species in Comal Springs, and San
Marcos Springs.
The Edwards Aquifer was the first aquifer in the Nation designated as a "sole
source" aquifer under the "Gonzalez Amendment" to the Safe Drinking Water
Act, which had as its specific purpose the protection of the Edwards Aquifer from
federally financed or subsidized projects.
The Edwards is a karstic aquifer and therefore is highly vulnerable to water
pollution because surface water quickly enters the aquifer through recharge
features, such as caves, sinkholes and streambeds, without significant filtration
compared to aquifers that are fed by water gradually seeping through layers of
soil and substrate.
Chlorinated solvents, toxic metals, and pesticides are regularly detected in the
Edwards Aquifer, at times in concentrations that threaten human health and
sensitive plants and animals.
2. Endangered Species in the Area

a. golden-cheeked warbler
The area north of the U.S. 281/Loop 1604 intersection also contains habitat that is

vital to the recovery of the endangered golden-cheeked warbler (“Warbler”).
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The Warbler is a small bird that feeds on insects. The Warbler “is the only
endemic breeding bird of Texas [and] its entire nesting area occurs with the
State.” Final Rule to List the Golden-cheeked Warbler as Endangered, Fish and
Wildlife Service, 55 Fed. Reg. 53153, 53154 (December 27, 1990).
After “conduct[ing] an extensive review of the status of the [species] and
determin[ing] that an emergency posing a significant risk to the well-being of the
golden-cheeked warbler existed,” the United States Fish and Wildlife Service
(“FWS”) issued an emergency rule to list the species as endangered under the
Endangered Species Act (“ESA”) on May 4, 1990. 55 Fed. Reg. 53154 (citing 55
Fed. Reg. 18844). A final rule designating the species as endangered was issued
on December 27, 1990. 55 Fed. Reg. 53153.
The preeminent reason for the listing of the species was the ongoing and
threatened destruction and fragmentation of its habitat from residential
development and highway construction. While range management practices have
had some impact, according to FWS:
Larger areas of continuous [habitat] are often subdivided and
fragmented, especially near expanding population centers such as
Austin, San Antonio, and the Austin-San Antonio corridor.
Because of the growth and development in this corridor, the
greatest rate of golden-cheeked warbler habitat loss has occurred in
the southern and eastern portions of the Edwards Plateau.
Population growth and resulting loss and fragmentation of warbler
habitat in these counties are major threats to the largest contiguous
areas of preferred warbler habitat.
Highway construction has destroyed warbler habitat in Texas, and
planned future construction would destroy and fragment additional
warbler habitat. From 1989 to 2009, the number of lane miles in

the State is projected to increase from 183,495 to 241,363, and the
number of vehicles registered is projected to increase from
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13,970,000 to 17,183,100. Over the next twenty years, [TxDOT]
plans to spend over sixty billion dollars on highway construction.
Several commentors provided information on specific proposed
highway projects that, if constructed, would destroy warbler
habitat.

Certain proposed private developments would also destroy and
fragment warbler habitat. Interstate 35 connects San Antonio,
New Braunfels, San Marcos, and Austin, and parallels the eastern
edge of the warbler’s range. It has been designated as the Greater
San Antonio-Austin Corridor by the local business community,
and intense development is planned there. Commenters provided
descriptions of private developments that threaten several thousand
acres of remaining warbler habitat. For example, the Woodland
Hills Development of Cielo Vista properties surrounds Friedrich
Wilderness Park near San Antonio. There are plans for 520
hectares (1,300 acres) of dense housing and suburban
development, including single family homes, garden homes,
apartments, offices, hotels, and other commercial enterprises, in
the midst of excellent warbler habitat.

55 Fed. Reg. at 53157.
The FWS compiled a team of experts to assist in the recovery of the species,
known as a “Recovery Team.” In 1992, a recovery plan was finalized to guide
the conservation of the species. Golden-Cheeked Warbler Recovery Plan, U.S.
Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 2 Albuquerque, New Mexico (1992) (“Warbler
Recover Plan”).
The Warbler recovery plan notes:
Human activities have eliminated much warbler habitat within
parts of the warbler’s range that existed at the time of Pulich’s
(1976) initial surveys in 1962. Recent surveys suggest that the rate
of habitat loss is accelerating as suburban developments spread
into prime warbler habitat along the Balcones Escarpment,
especially in the growth corridor from Austin to San Antonio

(Wahl et al.1990).

Warbler Recovery Plan at 1.

22



77.

78.

The recovery plan notes that urbanization along the Austin-San Antonio corridor
is the most imminent threat to the species:
Urbanization along the Waco-Austin-San Antonio corridor is an
immediate threat. However, Pulich (1976) and Wahl et al. (1990)
documented the loss of habitat in rural settings also. For purposes of
recovery, the threat from urbanization is often considered more
serious than agricultural activities because habitat is permanently
removed and is usually replaced by structures of some sort. Also the
secondary impacts of noise, lighting, expanded infrastructure, urban
predators, etc. in urban areas may have an additional negative impact
on GCWs and their habitat.
Id. at §3.
Subsequent to the release of the recovery plan in 1992, the Recovery Team has
emphasized the absolute necessity of maintaining and recovering the species in
Bexar County if the Warbler is to survive, yet alone recover to the point at which
it no longer requires the protections of the ESA. According to the Recovery
Team, “in looking at the relative contribution that various regions make to overall
species’ survival, some regions are more critical than others.” Golden-cheeked
Warbler Recovery Team April 2-3, 1998 Meeting Minutes: Responses to
USFWS’s Questions at 1. “Looking at the regions from this perspective, the most
critical to the survival of the species are regions 5 and 6 (these two regions
collectively encompass the Austin-San Antonio corridor). Id. at 2; see also id. at
Figure 4 (depicting range of warbler and placing Bexar County in Region 6). The
Recovery Team speculated that the other regions are “peripheral areas and small,
fragmented sites [that] may be functioning as population sinks that are dependant

on the health and productivity of the core source populations in regions 5 and 6.”

Id. at 2. According to the Recovery Team:
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The core areas (5 and 6) are so important to support peripheral
populations and overall species survival, many team members felt
there needed to be weight given to higher carrying capacities
(2000-3000 singing males) in these areas to ensure that their
source/stability influences would continue to be available,
particularly with the threat of encroaching urban development . . .
At least two populations are needed for 5 and 6. In recovery
region 5, sufficient habitat only exists to support two populations
(the [Balcones Canyonland Preserves] and [Balcones Canyonland
National Wildlife Refuge (“BCNWR”)] areas). Little habitat
exists in Williamson County, S. Travis County or N. Hays County,
or west between Lake Buchanan and the BCNWR.

In summary, because of their importance to the [Warbler’s]
survival, at least two viable populations are needed for both
recovery regions 5 and 6. The Austin-San Antonio corridor is
undergoing rapid urban expansion, and thus each population in
these regions should have enough area to support a carrying
capacity of 2,000-3,000 singing males . . . Preserve design and
configuration and buffers from urban areas . . . are critical to
minimize edge effects and threats.
Id. at 6-7.
It is currently unknown whether sufficient habitat remains in the recovery unit
encompassing Bexar County to meet the criteria for recovery of the species.
“Additional studies are currently underway to determine whether or not GCWA
habitat patches large enough to sustain two populations with over 3,000 breeding
pairs each are feasible in this recovery unit. Environmental Assessment/Habitat
Conservation Plan for a Portion of the Cibolo Canyon Property (Master Phase II),
Bexar County, Texas (May 13, 2005) at 57.
b. karst habitat and species

The cave environments of central Texas have been recognized to support one of

the most important cave faunas in the world. See e.g. Balcones Canyonlands
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Preserve Habitat Conservation Plan and Final Environmental Impact Statement.
City of Austin & Travis County, Texas (March 1996).
The dissolution of calcium carbonate from limestone bedrock by groundwater
forms the unique subterranean caves, sinkholes and fractures of central Texas
known as karst terrain. Numerous karst areas of the Edwards limestone are
isolated from one another by river and stream canyons, drainage divides,
outcroppings of noncavernous formations, and sometimes faults. Similar to an
island, each isolated piece of karst has acquired an endemic biota.” Id. at 3-2.
In 1998, the Karst Waters Institute published a list of the ten most endangered
karst communities of the world; “a project that evolved out of the proceedings of
a scientific conference held in February 1997 on the conservation and protection
of karst biota”. The karst environment of the Edwards Aquifer is listed third.
Christopher S. Belson, Karst Waters Institute's Second Annual Top Ten List of
Endangered Karst Ecosystems, Vol. 7 (Fall/Spring 1999),
http://www.karstwaters.org/conduit/vol7no1/karst10.htm. Further, William R.
Elliott, Ph. D stated in the Texas Speleological Survey
The scientific resources of Texas caves are many. Hundreds of
ancient species, specially adapted to an energy-efficient life in
permanent darkness, are scattered through the karst of Central
Texas. Most of these eyeless "troglobites" occur in the Balcones
Fault Zone, where geologic isolation in faulted, river-dissected
karst blocks has resulted in an evolutionary history like that of an
archipelago.
The troglobites inhabiting the unique karst environment within central Texas are

important not only for biodiversity, but also as indicators of the ecosystem’s

health, as one of the richest sources of karst biota in the world. Further, the
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scientific value of cave fauna reaches to “evolutionary biologists and
biogeographers and is an educational resource as well.” The Status and Range of
Five Endangered Arthropods from caves in the Austin, Texas Region, Elliott &
Redell, (1989). The troglobites inhabiting the cave environment of central Texas
may be the only remaining animals representing “ancestral species inhabit[ing]
surface habitats no longer present” within Central Texas. Id. at 8.“These relictual
species have been called “living fossils”. Id. In Central Texas, the ancestors of
several of these relicts once inhabited moist forests covering the Edwards Plateau
during the Pleistocene. The cave dwelling species are our only remaining
evidence of this bygone surface fauna. Id.

D. The Severe Environmental Effects of Highways, Particularly On
Aquatic Species and As Facilitator of Urban Sprawl.

Highway corridors now cover a full one percent of the land surface of the United
States and their direct environmental impacts extend to approximately 20% of the
Nation’s land. Angermeier, P.L., A. P. Wheeler and A. E. Rosenberger. 2004. A
Conceptual Framework for Assessing Impacts of Roads on Aquatic Biota.
Fisheries December 2004, Vol. 29 no. 12, pp. 19-29 at 19.

Angermeier et al., describe the environmental effects of three phases of highway
impacts: construction, presence, and urbanization. Highway construction and
presence have generally concentrated and short to medium term impacts, while
highway induced urbanization has diffused, yet severe, and long term impacts. A
primary impact of the road construction phase is the discharge of sediment to

waterways.
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Construction phase impacts are not as long lasting as urbanization impacts, but
can be acute. FWS has explained that:

The volume of sediments observed in urbanizing portions of the
Barton Springs watershed and increased turbidity during periods of
major construction indicate that such activities influence these
phenomena. . . . the relationship between urban runoff and
increased erosion and sedimentation is well documented.
Increases in turbidity tend to coincide with land clearing and
construction activities, and discharge of turbid runoff from
construction projects has been observed entering receiving waters
in the Barton Springs watershed.

62 Fed. Reg. 23383.

It is widely recognized that “sediments generated during construction can

substantially depress certain populations of [aquatic species].” Angermeier at 21.

Angermeier et al note that “even though effects of construction generated

sediment may extend several [kilometers] beyond the construction site and persist

for years after construction, large-scale and long-term effects rarely are assessed

or studied.” Id.

Highways have substantial adverse effects on water quality from a wide range of

pollutants besides total suspended solids (sediments).

As FWS has stated:
Highways can have major impacts on groundwater quality
(TNRCC 1994; Barrett et al. 1995). The TNRCC (1994) lists
highways and roads as the fifth most common potential source of
groundwater contamination in the Edwards Aquifer. Elevated
concentrations of metals, Kjeldahl nitrogen, and organic
compounds have been detected in groundwater near highways and

their control structures.

62 Fed. Reg. 23386.
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Water pollution abatement plans for highways are generally focused on total
suspend solid (“TSS”) removal efficiencies. However, controls on TSS are not
adequate surrogates for the other pollutants associated with highways. For
example, the FWS Austin office’s staff, in commenting on certain water quality
measures focused on TSS removal, recently stated:

Emphasis on TSS [total suspended solids] removal is based on the
assumption that TSS is an adequate surrogate for all other
contaminants . . . TSS may not be an adequate surrogate for certain
toxic pollutants of concern (soluable pesticides, nutrients or heavy
metals). For example, a given BMP may not reduce dissolved
metals concentrations to levels that avoid sublethal/lethal effects to
species. In addition, the approach of looking at the water quality
targets, parameter by parameter, ignores what we really want to
know, namely, the toxicity of stormwater reaching the receiving
water body with listed species. If a BMP removes 80% of TSS and
still discharges stormwater with adverse effects, there is the real
likelihood of take of [endangered aquatic species].

Angermeier et al. conclude that transportation policy focuses primarily on impacts
from the road construction phase and typically excludes the often far more
extensive and severe impacts of urbanization. The authors explain:

Urbanization, the final phase of road development, affects aquatic
systems across large spatial and temporal frames (up to thousands
of square kilometers and centuries respectively). Urbanization . . .
has accelerated in recent decades and is a major contributor to
contamination of surface and ground water and to modification of
hydrology in the United States. Over 130,000 km of U.S. streams
and rivers are impaired by urbanization, making it a leading cause
of water-body impairment. Moreover, urbanization endangers at
least 275 species in the United States, where it is the second-
leading cause (next to non-native species) of species imperilment.

The relation between road building and urbanization is noteworthy
in the context of road impacts on aquatic biota because it is
typically ignored in official biological assessments. This omission
is puzzling in NEPA-driven assessments . . . given that highway
projects are one [of] the main types of federal action that cause
urban sprawl. Effects of urbanization, which may lag behind road
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construction for decades, are generally excluded from impact
assessments despite their severe, well-documented consequences
for biota. More explicit recognition of the relation between road
building and urbanization and of the effects of urbanization on
aquatic biota is crucial to comprehensive assessment of road
impacts.
Angermeier et al. at 22
E. Defendants’ Decisions to Fund and Construct the Proposed
Expansion of U.S. 281 and Other Components of the San Antonio Toll
Road “Starter System” in Violation of the National Environmental
Policy Act
The initial finding of no significant impact for the proposed project was issued on
August 8, 1984.
On December 11, 2000, the FHWA concurred with TxDOT’s new finding that
“no further environmental documentation or public involvement is required for
this project.”
In December 2004, TxDOT prepared another environmental analysis of the
project and again sought the concurrence of FHWA that “this project remains a
FONSI . ..”
FHWA issued a FONSI in November 2005 and published a notice of availability
on or about November 20, 2005.
Plaintiffs allege that Defendants have decided to fund and construct the proposed
expansion of U.S. 281 and Loop 1604 in the absence of legally sufficient
environmental analysis required by the NEPA.

Plaintiffs allege that the environmental analyses prepared by the Defendants fail

to consider reasonable alternatives to the proposed action.
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Plaintiffs allege that the environmental analyses prepared by the Defendants fail
to describe, analyze and consider adequately the full range of direct, indirect and
cumulative impacts on the human environment, including air and noise pollution
impacts to adjacent residents, aquifer water quality degradation, impacts to

endangered species, and socio-economic impacts of tolling

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

Claim 1 (Findings of No Significant Impact)

Paragraphs one through ninety-eight are hereby incorporated by reference.

Defendants’ findings that the proposed expansion of U.S. 281, in conjunction with
past, present and reasonably foreseeable highway projects in the contributing and
recharge zones of the Edwards Aquifer and attendant urbanization, will not have
significant environmental impacts are arbitrary, capricious, and otherwise not in
accordance with law in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §

706(2) and the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq.

Claim 2 (Inadequate Environmental Analysis)

Paragraphs one through ninety-eight are hereby incorporated by reference.

Defendants’ decisions to fund and construct the proposed expansion of U.S. 281
in the absence of environmental assessments and/or environmental impact
statements that adequately describe, analyze and consider the full range of direct

impacts to the human environment; cumulative and secondary impacts; and
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reasonable alternatives are arbitrary and capricious and otherwise not in
accordance with law in violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. §

706(2) and the National Environmental Policy Act, 42 U.S.C. §§ 4321 et seq.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs prays for relief as follows:

1. For a declaratory judgment that Defendants’ decisions that the proposed
expansion of Highway 281, in conjunction with other past, present, and
reasonably foreseeable highway project in the recharge and contributing
zones of the Edwards Aquifer and attendant urbanization, will not have
significant environmental impacts are arbitrary and capricious and adopted
in violation of the procedural requirements of the Administrative
Procedure Act and the National Environmental Policy Act;

2. For a declaratory judgment that the environmental analyses prepared by
the Defendants do not adequately describe, analyze and consider the full
range of direct impacts on the human environment; cumulative and
secondary impacts; and a reasonable range of alternatives;

3. For an order setting aside the Defendants’ findings of no significant
impact and the Defendant’s Record of Decision to fund the proposed
expansion of Highway 281 pending compliance with the National
Environmental Policy Act;

4. For an order enjoining Defendants from carrying out the proposed project
pending full compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act;

5. For the Court to retain continuing jurisdiction to review defendants’
compliance with all judgments and orders entered herein;

6. For an award of Plaintiffs’ costs of litigation, including reasonable
attorney’s fees; and
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7. For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper to
effectuate a complete resolution of the legal disputes between Plaintiffs

and Defendants.

DATED:

Respectfully Submitted,

JOHN FRITSCHIE

D.C. Bar No. 442624
Save Our Springs Alliance
221 E. 9th St., Suite 300
Austin, TX 78701

(512) 477-2320

(512) 477-6410 (facsimile)

Attorney for Plaintiff

' Admitted to United States District Court for Western District of Texas, though not a member of Texas

Bar.

R



